# FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 2/28/2018 11:55 AM

95604-9

Court of Appeals Cause No. 75674-5-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# NATIONAL SURETY CORPORATION,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

# IMMUNEX CORPORATION,

Defendant/Appellant.

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

# GORDON TILDEN THOMAS & CORDELL LLP

Franklin D. Cordell, WSBA #26392 Matthew F. Pierce, WSBA #34019 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4000 Seattle, WA 98154 Tel. (206) 467-6477 Fax (206) 467-6292

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT/APPELLANT IMMUNEX CORPORATION

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Immunex Corporation asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part II of this Petition.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Immunex seeks review of a decision of the Court of Appeals,

Division I, filed January 29, 2018. A copy of the decision is attached as

Appendix A.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where National Surety Corporation ("NSC") accepted Immunex's tender of underlying lawsuits and agreed to defend under reservation of rights, but refused to actually defend or pay any defense costs, did the Court of Appeals err in holding that NSC was immune from all liability for extracontractual claims as a matter of law?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in excluding from trial evidence of NSC's contractual and common-law duties to Immunex, as well as evidence that NSC violated those duties?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Immunex purchased liability insurance policies from NSC.

NSC issued annual insurance policies (the "NSC Policies") to Immunex covering the periods September 1, 1998 through September 1, 2002. Under the relevant policy terms, NSC agreed to "pay on behalf of ... [Immunex] those sums that [Immunex] ... becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of," *inter alia*, "Discrimination (unless insurance thereof is prohibited by law)." "Discrimination" is not defined in the NSC Policies. *E.g.*, TE 6, pp. NSC 002687-92.

# B. NSC has duties to investigate, defend and indemnify.

The NSC Policies impose two separate and distinct duties on NSC: the duty to defend and the duty to indemnify. Under the duty to indemnify, NSC must pay any covered liability Immunex may incur to a third-party claimant. The duty to defend, by contrast, gives NSC "the right and duty to investigate any claim, or defend any Insured against any Suit, seeking damages ... [t]o which [coverage] applies ... even if the allegations are groundless, false or fraudulent."

In addition to its duties to defend and indemnify, Washington law imposes on NSC a duty to investigate claims asserted against Immunex. *See, e.g.*, WAC 284-30-330(3), (5) (defining as unfair claims settlement practice "[f]ailing to adept and implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation of claims under insurance policies"; and "[f]ailing to affirm or deny coverage of claims within a reasonable time after fully completed proof of loss documentation has been submitted."). The NSC Policies also explicitly impose this duty, providing that the insurer "will have the right and duty to investigate any claim, or defend any Insured

against any Suit, seeking damages ... [t]o which [coverage] applies ...,
[e]ven if the allegations are groundless, false or fraudulent[] . . . ." TE 10,
pp. NSC 002727-28.

# C. NSC's duty to defend Immunex against the AWP Litigation.

This litigation concerns NSC's duty to defend Immunex against a group of lawsuits known as the "AWP Litigation." The first AWP suit naming Immunex was filed in 2001. The AWP Litigation was brought by purchasers of prescription drugs, such as health insurers and government entities, against various pharmaceutical companies, and eventually consisted of over 20 individual suits. Although the theories of liability were complex, their gravamen was that a benchmark price published by the manufacturers, known as average wholesale price ("AWP"), was misleading. Immunex vigorously opposed the claims.

# D. The parties dispute when Immunex tendered the AWP Litigation to NSC.

It is undisputed that in October 2006 Immunex tendered several AWP complaints to NSC. Whether Immunex had earlier tendered the AWP Litigation was contested at trial. Immunex contended that it tendered the first AWP case in January 2002, thus triggering NSC's duty to defend. *E.g.*, Tr. 472:14-473:22; CP 3105-06. NSC claimed the January 2002 communication was merely a "notice," and that Immunex did clearly request a defense until the undisputed October 2006 tender.

# E. NSC agreed to defend under reservation of rights, but never defended Immunex or paid any defense costs.

On March 9, 2007, after NSC had repeatedly failed to render a coverage determination, Immunex's coverage counsel explained to NSC that the AWP Litigation included allegations of price discrimination that were sufficient to trigger NSC's duty to defend. NSC made no substantive response until, over a year later, on March 28, 2008, it sued Immunex in King County Superior Court, seeking a declaration that the AWP Litigation was not covered. CP 1.

Three days later (and nearly 20 months after the October 2006 tender and while the AWP Litigation was still ongoing), NSC agreed to defend Immunex under reservation of rights. TE 95. The reservation-of-rights letter stated that NSC was agreeing to provide Immunex with a defense "to be sure to protect Immunex's interests while it [NSC] pursued its investigation." *Id.* p. 9.

Despite its promise to do so, NSC never defended Immunex. It never appointed or tried to appoint defense counsel and it never paid or tried to pay Immunex's defense costs or even, assuming NSC believed them too high, whatever portion NSC considered reasonable.

# F. History of this litigation.

### 1. The 2009 trial court proceedings and the first appeal.

On April 14, 2009, the trial court ruled that the allegations in the AWP Litigation did not constitute "discrimination" within the meaning of the NSC Policies, and NSC therefore had no duty to defend. CP 1124-26. Immunex and NSC each then filed cross-motions for summary judgment regarding NSC's obligation to pay defense costs incurred prior to the April 14, 2009 Order. On August 25, 2009, the trial court ordered as follows: "National Surety must pay all reasonable defense fees and costs incurred by Immunex in the AWP Litigation through April 14, 2009, the date the Court granted [National Surety's] duty to defend motion, unless [National Surety] prevails on its late notice claim at trial." CP 1408-10. The Court of Appeals affirmed both rulings. *Nat'l Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp.*, 162 Wn. App. 762, 779, 256 P.3d 439 (2011).

In *National Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp.*, 176 Wn.2d 872, 297 P.3d 688 (2013), this Court affirmed, rejecting NSC's argument that the trial court's ruling of no indemnity coverage relieved the insurer from liability for pre-April 14, 2009 defense costs. Specifically, this Court affirmed the rulings below that: (1) because the AWP Litigation was conceivably within the Policies' coverage, NSC's defense obligation had attached and would remain so unless and until the trial court resolved the

uncertainty in NCS's favor; (2) Washington insurers remain liable for defense costs incurred between the time the duty to defend attaches and a judicial determination of no coverage; (3) therefore, NSC was obligated to pay Immunex's defense costs unless and to the extent the insurer could prove it was "actually and substantially prejudiced" by the timing of notice or tender of the AWP Litigation. *Id.* at 890-91. The Court remanded the case for determination of that issue.

#### 2. The case on remand.

On remand, NSC contended that it was prejudiced by the timing of Immunex's notice, and that Immunex's defense costs were unreasonable in amount. Immunex argued that it had not merely notified NSC of the AWP Litigation in January 2002, but in fact had tendered the first AWP case at that time. *E.g.*, Tr. 472:14-473:22; CP 3105-06. Immunex also argued that even if NSC was right that the January 2002 communication was only a notice, it was sufficient to trigger NSC's duty to investigate, including at least by clarifying whether a defense was being sought. Immunex argued that if NSC had investigated, it would have learned all of the information the insurer later claimed it needed. Immunex thus contended that, instead of being prejudiced by the timing of tender, NSC in fact was prejudiced by its own lack of action and failure to honor its

duty to investigate. Immunex also contended that the defense costs it sought were reasonable in amount.

On remand, Immunex for the first time asserted counterclaims based upon NSC's wrongful failure to defend. CP 1535-46. Immunex argued that NSC's failure to pay defense costs—including after expressly promising to do so in its March 2008 acceptance of Immunex's tender and reservation-of-rights letter—gave rise to breach of contract and extracontractual liability under the common law of bad faith and the Washington IFCA and CPA. *Id*.

# 3. The trial court entered summary judgment against Immunex on its claims for extracontractual liability.

In its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (the "SJ Motion"), NSC argued it could not be held liable on Immunex's extracontractual claims, or for breach of contract, because it had accepted Immunex's tender and agreed to defend it against the AWP Litigation under reservation of rights. CP 2071-73, 2076-77. Specifically, NSC argued that this Court's 2011 opinion meant that the March 2008 reservation-of-rights letter insulated the insurer from any liability, whether contractual or extracontractual, for wrongfully failing to defend, despite the fact that NSC admittedly never defended Immunex or paid defense costs. *Id*. Immunex opposed the motion, arguing that while Washington law does

afford liability insurers substantial protection when they choose to defend their insureds under reservation of rights, that protection is available only when the insurer *actually defends* the insured—not when the insurer promises to but fails to do so. CP 3113-15.

The trial court granted the SJ Motion, dismissing Immunex's counterclaims from the case. CP 3521-22. Thereafter, two issues were tried to a jury: (1) whether and to what extent NSC could show prejudice from the timing of Immunex's notice or tender of the AWP Litigation; and (2) whether the defense costs claimed by Immunex were reasonable in amount.

# 4. At trial, the court excluded evidence of NSC's own duties and standards.

The trial court disallowed Immunex from presenting to the jury evidence or argument that NSC violated its duties to its insured, and even that NSC had duties toward Immunex at all. CP 3243. The trial court's rationale was that its dismissal of Immunex's counterclaims made NSC's duties, and non-compliance with them, irrelevant. CP 3955. The court enforced this same reasoning throughout trial, continuing to exclude evidence of NSC's duties on the basis of the court's prior ruling with respect to Immunex's counterclaims. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 128:2-11; Tr. 129:15-17; Tr. 131:12-14; Tr. 132:1-8.

5. The jury found NSC had an obligation to pay defense costs, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

On May 26, 2016, the jury found that NSC had an obligation to pay defense costs to Immunex. On the basis of the evidence before it, the jury also found that NSC had been prejudiced by the timing of the notice, tender, or both, and awarded Immunex \$670,000, far less the full amount of the defense costs Immunex sought. CP 4460.

On January 29, 2018 the Court of Appeals, Division I, affirmed in an unpublished opinion.

#### V. ARGUMENT

- A. The decision below is contrary to Washington's wellestablished duty-to-defend law.
  - 1. This Court's opinions incentivize insurers to defend under reservation of rights when there is any doubt whether coverage exists.

The decisions below conflict with the two exclusive options that this Court has established for an insurer facing a policyholder's request for a defense, where the insurer believes it may have meritorious coverage defenses. Recognizing the importance of the duty to defend and the ease with which it is triggered—"[t]he duty [to defend] is one of the main benefits of the insurance contract[,] and "[o]nce the duty to defend attaches, insurers may not desert policyholders and allow them to incur substantial legal costs while waiting for an indemnity determination."

Truck Ins. Exchange v. VanPort Homes, Inc., 147 Wn.2d 751, 761, 58 P.3d 276 (2002)—the options incentivize insurers to err in favor of providing a defense:

First, the insurer may conclude that the claims against its insured are not even "conceivably" covered and, consequently, there is no duty to defend. In this situation, the insurer can simply deny coverage by refusing to defend its policyholder. But this decision is not free of risk. If the denial is later held to have been in error, the insurer is exposed to liability not only for contract damages—the costs of defending the lawsuit plus prejudgment interest—but also the full range of extracontractual remedies: coverage by estoppel; exemplary damages; attorney fee liability; consequential damages; and emotional distress damages. All these remedies are available because the insurer wrongly left the insured to fend for itself. C.f. VanPort Homes, 147 Wn.2d at 761 ("Once the duty to defend attaches, insurers may not desert policyholders and allow them to

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> VanPort Homes, 147 Wn.2d at 759-60; Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Dan Paulson Constr., Inc. 161 Wn.2d 903, 919, 169 P.3d 1 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RCW 48.30.015(2); 19.86.090.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Id.*; see also Olympic Steamship Co. v. Centennial Ins. Co., 117 Wn.2d 37, 53, 811 P.2d 673 (1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Coventry Assocs. v. Am. States Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 269, 284, 961 P.2d 933 (1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 161 Wn.2d 43, 70, 164 P.3d 454 (2007).

incur substantial legal costs while waiting for an indemnity determination.").

On the other hand, this course of action may benefit the insurer.

The insured may not challenge the denial, or the insurer may successfully establish that the duty to defend never attached. In either scenario, the insurer will have avoided paying any defense costs.

Second, "[w]hen an insurer is uncertain of its duty to defend, it may defend under a reservation of rights while seeking a declaratory judgment relieving it of its duty." *Immunex*, 176 Wn.2d at 879; *citing Woo*, 161 Wn.2d at 54. When an insurer agrees to defend under reservation, its duty to do so continues unless and until the insurer obtains a judicial determination that no indemnity coverage exists; then, the insurer will be liable for pre-determination defense costs even if the court finds that no indemnity coverage exists. *Immunex*, 176 Wn.2d at 887-88.

Although defending under a reservation can thus present a significant cost to the insurer, which "must pay defense costs until it obtains a judicial declaration that it owes no duty to defend," *Id.* at 891, the insurer "unquestionably benefits from its decision to defend under a reservation of rights—even where, as here, a court later finds that it owes no duty to continue that defense." *Id.* at 880. This is because "[a]lthough the insurer must bear the expense of defending the insured, by doing so

under a reservation of rights and seeking a declaratory judgment, the insurer avoids breaching its duty to defend and incurring the potentially greater expense of defending itself from a claim of breach ...." *Id.* at 880, *quoting Woo*, 161 Wn.2d at 54.

Just like the decision to refuse a defense altogether, the decision to defend under a reservation of rights presents the insurer with a tradeoff: the insurer "makes a rational decision to protect itself against a greater downstream risk [breach and extracontractual liability] by undertaking certain costs [of defending its insured]." *Id*.

# 2. To receive the protections afforded by defending under a reservation of rights, the insurer must *actually defend*.

This Court has made clear that an insurer receives the protections that flow from defending under a reservation of rights only if the insurer *actually defends*; the mere reservation of rights and unfulfilled promise to defend is not enough. Indeed, in this very case, this Court repeatedly emphasized the tradeoff inherent in an insurer's decision to defend under a reservation:

We have recognized that the risks of a reservation of rights defense are coupled with benefits:

Although *the insurer must bear the expense of defending the insured*, by doing so under a reservation of rights and seeking a declaratory judgment, the insurer avoids breaching its duty to defend and incurring the potentially greater expense of defending itself from a claim of breach.

. . .

When an insurer *defends* under a reservation of rights, it insulates itself from potential claims of breach and bad faith, which can lead to significant damages, including coverage by estoppel. *In turn, the insured receives the benefit of a defense* until a court declares none is owed. Conversely, when an insurer declines to defend altogether, it saves money on legal fees but assumes the risk it may have breached its duty to defend or committed bad faith.

Immunex, 176 Wn.2d at 880, 884-85, 887 (emphasis added; internal citations omitted). In this Court's own words, an insurer "cannot claim the benefits of [a reservation of rights defense] and simultaneously avoid the costs." *Id.*; *see also Woo*, 161 Wn.2d 43, 164 P.3d 454 (2007) ("[a]lthough the insurer must bear the expense of defending the insured, by doing so under a reservation of rights and seeking a declaratory judgment, the insurer avoids breaching its duty to defend and incurring the potentially greater expense of defending itself from a claim of breach." (internal quotations and citations omitted)); *Kirk v. Mt. Airy Ins. Co.* 134 Wn.2d 558 n.3, 951 P.2d 1124 (1998) ("If the insurer is unsure of its obligation to defend in a given instance, it may defend under a reservation of rights while seeking a declaratory judgment that it has no duty to defend.").

This rationale is consistent with this Court's previous observation, also in this case, "that, under a reservation of rights defense, 'the insured *receives* the defense promised'—at least until the determination of

noncoverage." *Immunex*, 176 Wn.2d at 885-86 (quoting *Kirk*, 134 Wn.2d at 563 n. 3) (emphasis in original). This Court also has expressly interpreted *Woo* as making clear that a reservation of rights defense is a "real" defense, and not simply an illusory benefit: "If there were any question after *Kirk* and *Truck Insurance* that a reservation of rights defense must be a real defense, there is no question after *Woo* that "the insurer must bear the expense of defending the insured." *Immunex*, 176 Wn.2d 886; accord, *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 405, 229 P.3d 693, 696 (2010) ("A reservation of rights is a means by which the insurer avoids breaching its duty to defend while seeking to avoid waiver and estoppel. When that course of action is taken, *the insured receives the defense promised* and, if coverage is found not to exist, the insurer will not be obligated to pay [further defense costs or indemnity coverage]." (emphasis added)).

B. The Court of Appeals' opinion cannot be reconciled with Washington law, including this Court's prior opinions in *Woo* and this case.

NSC sought and obtained summary judgment on Immunex's claims, arguing it was immunized against breach-of-contract and extracontractual liability, as a matter of law, because NSC had promised to defend Immunex under reservation of rights. Immunex countered that such immunity does not attach as a matter of law, and that the irrationality,

and incongruence with Washington law, of such a rule was illustrated particularly well by this case, where NSC took no action in furtherance of its promise to defend (*e.g.*, no attempt to appoint counsel, or to determine what amount of defense fees the insurer believed would have been reasonable, let alone compensate Immunex for any undisputed amounts).

The Court of Appeals rejected Immunex's argument and affirmed the superior court's grant of the SJ Motion. The crux of the Court of Appeals' reasoning, and its error, is set forth in the following passage:

To grant the relief Immunex requests and reinstate its breach of contract and extra-contractual claims would require us to graft an exception onto the rule in Woo: an insurer defending under reservation of rights "avoids breaching its duty to defend and incurring the potentially greater expense of defending itself from a claim of breach" unless it does not pay defense costs pending any determination of reasonableness. 161 Wn.2d at 54. The trial court properly dismissed Immunex's claims for bad faith, breach of contract, and IFCA and CPA violations.

Appendix A, p. 7 (emphasis in original).

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