FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/30/2018 3:24 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95604-9

Court of Appeals, Division I No. 75674-5-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NATIONAL SURETY CORORATION,

Respondent,

v.

IMMUNEX CORPORATION,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT/PLAINTIFF'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

One Union Square 600 University Street, Suite 2700 Seattle, WA 98101-3143 (206) 467-1816 rsulkin@mcnaul.com tfitzgerald@mcnaul.com McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC

Robert M. Sulkin WSBA No. 15425 Timothy B. Fitzgerald WSBA No. 43994

Attorneys for Respondent National Surety Corporation

I. INTRODUCTION

In filing the instant Petition, Immunex Corporation ("Immunex") asserts only two grounds for discretionary review: (a) that the decision of the court below is in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1), and (b) that this matter involves an issue of substantial public interest that should now be determined by the Washington Supreme Court, RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Immunex is mistaken. First, the decision of the court below was a straight-forward application of settled Washington law, including the law of this case. Second, even if the Court were to conclude that this case involves an issue of substantial public interest, that issue has already been addressed by this Court in its prior opinion. There is no basis under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4) to review this matter yet again.

Although none of its policies covered the AWP Litigation, NSC was nevertheless required to pay \$670,000 because it issued a reservation of rights. That \$670,000 is the total amount of defense fees incurred by Immunex in the AWP Litigation, less the amount by which Immunex's conduct resulted in prejudice to NSC, as determined by the jury. Obviously, the jury's verdict reflects the substantial prejudice caused by Immunex as a result of its late tender.

In exchange for having to pay under policies that provide no

coverage, subject to a jury determination on the issue of prejudice, NSC received a significant benefit: insulation from claims for breach of contract and bad faith. That is settled Washington law, including the law of this case, and the courts below correctly applied that law.

For these reasons and others, the Court should decline to review this matter, and finally bring to an end what now has been more than a decade of expensive and time-consuming litigation.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Immunex is Repeatedly Sued for Illegally Inflating the Price of Medication at the Expense of Government Programs

The jury was presented with evidence that, beginning in 1999, more than twenty (20) lawsuits were filed against Immunex, all alleging that it fraudulently overstated the average wholesale price (or "AWP") of its prescription drugs. TX 66 at NSC 2958-72. Without consulting NSC, Immunex hired the law firm of Perkins Coie to serve as "lead national counsel," along with a small army of local law firms around the country, incurring legal fees in excess of \$15.4 million over the course of more than five years. TX 302.

2

¹ The following citation abbreviations are used: "RP" for Record of Proceedings, with the applicable trial or hearing date noted parenthetically, "CP" for Clerk's Papers, "App. Br." for Immunex's opening appellate brief, and "TX" for trial exhibits.

B. Immunex Does Not Disclose Relevant Information to NSC

1. Immunex Provides Limited Information

National Surety Corporation ("NSC") issued liability insurance to Immunex over the course of several years. TX 6, 10. The policies issued by NSC required, as a condition to coverage, that Immunex provide notice of any claims or potential claims "as soon as practicable." TX 6 at NSC 2682; RP 7:21-24 (May 11, 2016 a.m.), RP 267:3-17 (May 10, 2016).

Although Immunex knew it was a defendant in the AWP Litigation by 1999, it did not provide any information to NSC regarding the AWP Litigation until 2001, at which time it notified NSC that it was the subject of four whistleblower (*qui tam*) actions. TX 9. Discovery has revealed that Immunex and its advisors intended to provide limited information to NSC regarding these matters and others.

For example, the jury was presented with evidence that Immunex created a detailed status report regarding the AWP Litigation in March 2001, and provided that document to Chubb, a different insurer (the "March 2001 Notice"). TX 8. The March 2001 Notice provided Chubb with significant information, such as the amount of legal fees incurred and

3

² Two transcripts were generated for May 11, 2016—one for the morning session and another for the afternoon session—and those transcripts are not consecutively paginated. For purposes of this brief, NSC cites only to the first of the May 11, 2016 transcripts, and refers to it herein as "May 11, 2016 a.m."

the fact that one of Immunex's co-defendants made an eight-figure payment to resolve the claims against it. *Id.* at MARSH 980, 982.

Several months later, Immunex and its brokers drafted a very different "notice" to NSC. Unlike the helpful information provided to Chubb, Immunex's claims specialist characterized her working draft of the NSC notice as "my attempt at a notice letter without disclosure of anything." TX 8. That notice, which included none of the helpful information provided to Chubb months earlier, was sent to NSC in August 2001. TX 9.

2. NSC Assigns an Adjuster

NSC responded to the August 2001 "notice" by assigning adjuster Greg Brown to the matter. TX 12. Mr. Brown requested that Immunex direct any future correspondence to him, and that the company provide him with all relevant pleadings as soon as possible. *Id.* As explained below, and as the evidence presented to the jury demonstrated, Immunex actively frustrated both of those straight-forward requests.

3. Immunex Continues its Pattern of Non-Cooperation, Non-Disclosure, and Affirmative Misrepresentation

In fact, although Immunex would be served with twenty (20) additional AWP lawsuits over the course of the next five years, the jury was presented evidence demonstrating that Immunex purported to send only one of those complaints – *Citizens for Consumer Justice v. Abbot*

Laboratories, et. al. ("Citizens") – to NSC prior to December of 2006. But the evidence suggests that even that complaint was not actually sent to NSC, RP 477:8-478:23 (May 24, 2016), and if it was, it was transmitted in a manner that was almost certainly calculated to ensure Mr. Brown would not receive it. RP 275:6-14, 276:2-15 (May 10, 2016); RP 12:2-20, 43:24-44:15 (May 11, 2016 a.m.); RP 278:7-279:6 (May 10, 2016).

Worse, on February 14, 2003, Immunex's Associate General Counsel, Antoinette Freeman, provided a misleading "status report" to Mr. Brown regarding the AWP Litigation. TX 27. Making no mention of the *Citizens* case, Ms. Freeman told Mr. Brown that "the status of these matters remains the same as previously reported to you. At such time as a complaint is unsealed and we are subsequently served, I shall promptly forward a copy to you." *Id*.

What Ms. Freeman failed to mention was that Immunex had actually been served with at least nine AWP civil suits by that time, none of which had been filed under seal. *See* TX 66; RP 300:23-302:11 (May 10, 2016). Although nothing stopped Immunex from providing those nine lawsuits to NSC, the jury was presented with evidence that Ms. Freeman omitted any reference to them in her so-called "status report." RP 302:12-303:10 (May 10, 2016).

Worse still, the jury was presented with evidence that Immunex

did provide notice of these nine civil suits to numerous other insurers, together with a detailed summary of those matters prepared by the law firm of Perkins Coie (the "Perkins Memo"). TX 14, 155, 159, 162, 165-67, CP 2336 ¶ 11. Immunex sent no such information to NSC.

C. The January 2002 Fax

As noted, Immunex purported to notify NSC of only one AWP civil suit prior to the end of 2006: the *Citizens* case. Immunex argued that its broker faxed a copy of the *Citizens* complaint to a generic "1-800" number affiliated with Fireman's Fund, the parent company of NSC, in January of 2002 (the "January 2002 Fax"). RP 221:3-17 (May 10, 2016); RP 560:21-25 (May 24, 2016). The jury was presented with evidence that Immunex never sent the January 2002 Fax to Mr. Brown, even though numerous witnesses testified that they knew Mr. Brown was their point of contact. RP 278:7-279:6 (May 10, 2016).

Moreover, while Immunex admitted its obligation to give NSC prompt notice of each and every AWP lawsuit, RP 267:15-268-4, 297:18-20 (May 10, 2016); RP 13:11-14:4, 38:25-39:4 (May 11, 2016 a.m.), the jury was presented with evidence that *Citizens* is the only civil suit (out of twenty) for which Immunex even attempted to notify NSC prior to 2006. RP 267:15-268:4, 353:12-354:8 (May 10, 2016).

There is no evidence that Immunex sent the entire January 2002 Fax to NSC, and the jury was presented with unrefuted evidence that it did not do so. RP 477:8-478:23 (May 24, 2016). Assuming, contrary to the

evidence, that Immunex did send the entire January 2002 Fax to NSC, that document was at most a mere notice of the *Citizens* case. The January 2002 Fax clearly was not a tender for coverage, let alone a tender for coverage with respect to all twenty AWP lawsuits.

The plain language of the January 2002 Fax explicitly says so. TX 15. Moreover, that self-declared "notice" stands in stark contrast to a request for coverage (*i.e.*, a tender). RP 237:24-239:1, 285:19-286:20 (May 12, 2016); *see also* RP 489:12-493:12 (May 24, 2016). Indeed, when Immunex did tender the AWP Litigation to NSC five years later, it used dramatically different language and even explicitly distinguished its prior "notice" correspondence. TX 56. Lest there be any doubt, Immunex's corporate representative testified that the January 2002 Fax was a mere notice and not a tender for coverage. CP 4550; CP 4551.

D. Immunex Tenders to NSC Five Years Late

In fact, as this Court has acknowledged, Immunex did not tender any AWP-related suit to NSC until October 3, 2006, *Nat'l Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp.*, 176 Wn.2d 872, 876 (2013), approximately five years after the first civil AWP complaint had been filed against it. TX 56.

Greg Brown responded by stating the obvious: "[N]one of the lawsuits mentioned in paragraph one of your letter were ever tendered to [NSC] If you have some documentation indicating any of these suit

papers were ever tendered to us, please send what you have." TX 62. If Immunex believed the January 2002 Fax was a tender, as it now contends, certainly by that point it would have sent a prompt response to that effect. The jury was presented with evidence that it did not do so.

Instead, on December 12, 2006, Immunex provided copies of the nine complaints referenced in its October 3, 2006 correspondence, and without explanation tendered eleven additional AWP lawsuits to NSC. TX 66. Of those twenty lawsuits, two dated back to 2001, six dated back to 2002, two dated back to 2003, three dated back to 2004, six dated back to 2005, and only one had been filed in 2006. *Id.* at NSC 2959-72. The prejudice to NSC was obvious and substantial.

E. NSC Denies Coverage For the AWP Litigation

On December 14, 2006, NSC denied coverage for the AWP Litigation. TX 69. Mr. Brown nevertheless invited Immunex to inform him if the company "saw something in these suits that [it] believe[d] [brought] them within the wording" of NSC's policies. *Id*.

F. Immunex Asks NSC to Reconsider its Denial of Coverage

NSC heard nothing from Immunex for three months. Then, in March of 2007, NSC received a letter from Immunex's outside insurance counsel, Linda Kornfeld, then a partner in the Los Angeles office of Dickstein Shapiro. TX 70.

In asking NSC to reconsider its coverage position, Ms. Kornfeld articulated an entirely new legal theory—namely, that Immunex's elaborate price-fixing scheme really constituted "discrimination" under the NSC policies. *Id.* at NSCLAIM 295-297. Notwithstanding the inapplicability of coverage, NSC still took Immunex's newly-formulated theory of coverage seriously, promptly requesting that Immunex provide information essential to investigating it.

G. Immunex Refuses to Cooperate With NSC

The policies issued by NSC provided two types of coverage: "follow-form" excess insurance under Coverage A, TX 6 at NSC 2668, and umbrella insurance under Coverage B, *id.* at NSC 2673. If a claim is covered by a primary carrier, then the NSC policies provide excess insurance under Coverage A, and umbrella insurance under Coverage B cannot apply unless and until primary insurance has first been exhausted. CP 2978 at 139:13-21; CP 2988 at 47:20-22.

Because of this tiered coverage structure, Immunex and its own brokers admitted that the necessary first step to any coverage analysis would be to obtain the primary carriers' coverage positions. CP 2976-77 at 126:19-127:4; CP 2978-79 at 139:25-140:8; CP 3005-06 at 79:21-80:20.

9

³ Under Coverage B, coverage existed for "personal injury" arising out of

[&]quot;discrimination." TX 6 at NSC 2673, 2690, TX 10 at NSC 2727, 2744.

Mr. Brown attempted to analyze Immunex's "discrimination" theory by taking that necessary first step, repeatedly requesting that Immunex provide the coverage positions of the underlying primary carriers. Immunex not only refused to cooperate with NSC's repeated requests, but also made numerous affirmative misstatements along the way. CP 2454. The jury was presented with evidence that Immunex's improper conduct resulted in significant and unnecessary delays.

H. NSC Commences the Instant Action, Issues the ROR, and Requests Immunex's Legal Bills, but Immunex Does Not Provide Legal Bills For a Prolonged Period of Time

NSC filed a declaratory judgment action on March 31, 2008, seeking a ruling that, among other things, NSC "owes no obligation to pay Immunex's legal expenses incurred by Immunex in the AWP Litigation." CP 1532 at ¶ 6.1. Out of an abundance of caution, and relying on misinformation provided by Immunex, NSC also issued an ROR. TX 95.

NSC was clear that it would not pay defense fees to the extent Immunex's conduct resulted in prejudice, but nevertheless requested that Immunex provide it with the legal invoices it wanted NSC to pay. *Id.* at AMG 10353-3969-70; CP 1205-06. Immunex did not begin sending invoices to NSC until almost a year later, CP 1173-74, and did not complete that process until August 2009, CP 1582 – nearly a year and a half after NSC requested the bills. TX 95.

I. Pre-Trial Procedural History

1. Initial Summary Judgment Rulings

In the meantime, on April 14, 2009 – before Immunex had provided NSC with any of the legal bills it had requested – the trial court ruled that NSC had no duty to defend Immunex in connection with the AWP Litigation. CP 1124-26. The court subsequently ruled that "National Surety must pay all reasonable defense fees and costs incurred by Immunex in the AWP Litigation through April 14, 2009, the date that the Court granted National Surety's duty to defend motion, unless Plaintiff prevails on its late notice claim at trial." CP 1408-10.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. It also recognized that, by subjecting itself to potential exposure for defense costs under the ROR, NSC insulated itself from claims for breach of contract and bad faith.

The Court acknowledged "that National Surety had not, at the time of the trial court ruling, actually paid Immunex's defense costs," *id.* at 777, but made clear that this fact in no way diminished the protections afforded to it under the ROR: "Although here [sic] that National Surety has not yet taken on the actual defense of Immunex, National Surety had the benefit of insulating itself from a bad faith claim and possible coverage by estoppel." *Id.* at 778.

The Court of Appeals also made clear that, depending on the

outcome of trial and in light of the facts of this case, NSC might not have any obligation to reimburse Immunex's defense fees at all: "This holding does not preclude National Surety from arguing to the fact finder that prejudice resulted as a matter of fact and that it should be excused from some or all of its obligation to pay defense costs." *Nat'l Sur. Corp.*, 162 Wn. App. at 782 n.14.

This Court affirmed, and again reiterated that NSC may have no reimbursement obligation: "We recognize, however, that an insurer may avoid or minimize its responsibility for defense costs when an insured belatedly tenders a claim and the insurer demonstrates actual and substantial prejudice." *Nat'l Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp.*, 176 Wn.2d 872, 875 (2013). This Court also reiterated that, regardless of how the jury resolved the issue of prejudice, NSC's assumption of potential liability under the ROR absolved it from liability for breach of contract or bad faith. *Id.* at 879-80.

2. Immunex Files Counterclaims

Simply ignoring these rulings, Immunex amended its answer to include counterclaims for breach of contract and bad faith. CP 1583-90.

3. The Trial Court Grants NSC's Motion for Summary Judgment on Immunex's Counterclaims

NSC moved for summary judgment on Immunex's counterclaims, arguing that Washington law bars any claims for breach of contract or bad

faith under the facts of this case. CP 2058-77, 3130-35. Immunex responded by arguing, as it does again here, that NSC cannot receive any protection under the ROR because it did not reimburse defense costs prior to trial. CP 3113-15.

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